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The Story of Kennett: Bayard Taylor (1825-1878), a member of one of the area’s oldest
families, was a well-known poet, author, and world traveler of the mid-nineteenth century. If
the 10 most important writers of the “Longfellow School” (Emerson, Bryant, Whittier, Thoreau,
Hawthorne, etc.) were listed, Taylor might not be among them, but if 20 such were listed, he
would definitely be included. There is no question that he was Kennett Square’s most
outstanding citizen of the century in which he lived.

Taylor traveled much of the world, being familiar with all the European countries. On one of his
last trips home from Europe in 1874, when his mansion called “Cedarcroft,” just north of
Kennett, was nearing completion, he had a yearn to visit Iceland (how many Americans had
been there in those times?), so he made his way to Scotland and took a steamer from Aberdeen.
After his Iceland visit, he returned via the same route and finally got home. In October 1874,
just before his 50 birthday, he was honored at a festive occasion at the new picnic grove of the
Wilmington & Western Railroad on the Red Clay Creek at Mount Cuba. President Rutherfod B.
Hayes appointed Bayard Taylor as Ambassador to Bismarck’s newly Federated Germany in
1877, which position he held at the time of his death in Berlin. He is buried in Longwood
Cemetery.

Taylor’s novels and poems often had local surroundings. His long poem “Lars” mentioned the
Hockessin Friends Meeting House. For local people, however, his most famous writing was the
novel “The Story of Kennett,” which was first published in 1866. While not a factual story, it
was intertwined with actual history, and its characters were local people except for the hero
Gilbert Potter, who was completely fictitious. Some of the names of those portrayed were
changed; some were actual. The story was set in the year 1796, although the culprit, a
highwayman named “Sandy Flash,” whose real name was James Fitzpatrick, was hanged at
Chester in 1778.

Rewritten as a play, the “Story of Kennett” was enacted around the community many times. My
first recollection was in 1933, when the American Legion in Kennett Square staged it at
Longwood’s Open Air Theatre. In that production, Knowles “Bus” Bowen portrayed Gilbert
Potter, Mary D. “Miss Mame” Lang was Betsy Lavender, Alice Lang (Miss Mame’s sister-in-
law) was Mary Potter, Scott McMurtrie was Sandy Flash, and Muriel Swift was Deb Smith. 1
forget the names of the others in the cast. The play was enacted again by the Legion in 1940 and
1955, as part of three-day celebrations of the Borough of Kennett Square.

My father always had an interest in the “Story of Kennett.” With his new 1915 Stanley Model
720, he visited and photographed many of the scenes described in the story, including New
Garden Cross Roads (none of the roads there were paved in 1915), the Spade and Trowel
Tavern at Toughkenamon, the Anvil Tavern near Longwood Gardens, the Old Kennett Friends
Meeting House, the Gilbert Potter house at Clifton Mills (I never understood this, since Potter
was a fictitious character), and the Barton Barn on South Walnut Street in Kennett, with the
hood of his Stanley showing in the foreground. From these photos and more taken of the 1933



Pageant, he had colored glass slides made and, with a large projector, gave “Story of Kennett”
presentations to small audiences in the late 1930s. He tried again on his 70" birthday on the
lawn at Auburn Heights in 1955, but many in his audience fell asleep before it was over.

Work Report: On Tuesday, April 2, 14 volunteers were on hand as follows: Jerry Novak (in
charge), Bob Jordan, Ted Kamen, Richard Bernard, Paul Kratunis, Bob Stransky, Gerhard
Maute, Eugene Maute, Brent McDougall, Anne Cleary, Art Wallace, Jerry Lucas, Steve Bryce,
and Tom Marshall. The Model 607’s engine, installed in the car on 3/28, was adjusted for rear
gear clearance with the back differential cover temporarily in place, and the flexible gland on
the steam pipe was packed. Neoprene gaskets were fit and glued to the engine’s aluminum
baffles. The rear wheels were pulled and the hydraulic wheel cylinders adjusted slightly to
allow clearance. The “shelf” under the Model 735’s condenser was stripped of paint with the
hope that Jerry Koss will straighten it and remove dents in his shop. Awaiting new brake lines
for the ’37 Packard, a new washer was fitted to accommodate these lines. Inside the museum,
and iron gate was fastened to the wall. Many of the museum’s stanchions were prepped for
repainting (black), and a lot of towels were cut up for shop rags. The Auburn Valley
locomotives were cleaned from their runs on March 30. Library work was continued.

On Thursday, April 4, the following 12 volunteers were on hand: Art Wallace, Richard Bernard,
Ted Kamen, Paul Kratunis, Jerry Koss, Steve Bryce, Bob Jordan, Jim Personti, Geoff Fallows,
Tim Ward, Lou Mandich, and Tom Marshall (in charge). On the 735 condenser, it was checked
again for leaks, and it appears to be tight, so it should be ready to go back in the car. As hoped,
the shelf under this condenser was taken by Jerry Koss to his shop for straightening. Many of
the stanchions were painted and relocated to the museum. Work continued on the Model 607 in
preparation for its firing up and running in place on 4/9. The acorn nuts at the end of the
engine’s frame rods were reworked so they tighten properly, new adjusting screws to center the
engine on the rear were made and inserted, and the up-and-down truss adjustment on the rear
axle was checked. Oil was brought to the proper level in the rack-and-pinion steering box, and
painting touch-up was done here and there as needed. Fiberfrax pieces were carefully cut to
glue to the bottom of the hood for further insulation of boiler heat.

In addition to the work sessions, On Monday, April 1, five volunteers, Jerry Novak, Steve
Bryce, Brent McDougall, Jonathan Rickerman, and Tim Nolan, jacked the end of the railroad
trestle, removed the defective block wall at its southwestern end, and dug down to the concrete
footer, with the help of the Rickerman tractor and back-hoe, borrowed from Jonathan’s brother.
They also removed the short loading track, which was in poor condition and had not been used
for several years. An excellent mason, Donald Blevins, will rebuild the wall within the next two
weeks, after which the ballast and track will be restored.



